**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Court of Common Pleas  
Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-23-01728  
Appellate Case No. 2022-000398

---

Debbie Stroud,  
Guardian ad Litem for James C. Stroud,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Greenville, LLC  
d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Greenville,  
THI of Baltimore, Inc., and  
THI of South Carolina, LLC,

Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP  
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)  
D. Jay Davis, Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)  
Matthew O. Riddle (SC Bar No. 76650)  
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s<sup>1</sup> motion to compel Plaintiff’s<sup>2</sup> claims to arbitration and, in turn, denying the Other Defendants’<sup>3</sup> corresponding motions to stay this lawsuit pending the outcome of the Facility’s motion and of any resulting arbitration between Plaintiff and the Facility?**
- A. Did the circuit court err in finding the language of the Power of Attorney<sup>4</sup> dispositive?<sup>5</sup>**
- B. Did the circuit court err in not granting Defendants’ motions based on the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should it have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Stroud effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is equitably estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?**
- C. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Arbitration Agreement is a “mandatory” agreement that “Defendants’ representative” “required” Mrs. Stroud to sign as a “condition” of Mr. Stroud’s residency at the Facility and, in turn, finding that**

---

<sup>1</sup> The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant THI of South Carolina at Greenville, LLC d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Greenville. It is a skilled nursing facility in Greenville County.

<sup>2</sup> “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Debbie Stroud (“Mrs. Stroud”), as guardian ad litem for her husband, James C. Stroud (“Mr. Stroud”).

<sup>3</sup> The “Other Defendants” are Defendants/Appellants THI of Baltimore, Inc., and THI of South Carolina, LLC, collectively. Together, the Facility and the Other Defendants are referred to collectively as “Defendants” or “Appellants.”

<sup>4</sup> The “Power of Attorney” is identified below in the Statement of the Case.

<sup>5</sup> This issue, and the corresponding argument, includes the circuit court’s error in not fully and fairly addressing and ruling on the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument.

**the Arbitration Agreement runs afoul of federal law governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursements?<sup>6</sup>**

- D. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Arbitration Agreement is not supported by sufficient consideration?**
- E. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Facility was not sufficiently diligent in determining whether Mrs. Stroud had authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement for Mr. Stroud?**
- F. At a minimum, should the circuit court have granted the Facility's alternative request for permission to conduct limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement's enforceability under an agency theory?**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

With Mrs. Stroud's help, Mr. Stroud was admitted as a resident of the Facility in March of 2017 and later readmitted to the Facility in October of 2018, following a two-week hospital stay. Mrs. Stroud handled the paperwork both times, and both times she signed an Admission Agreement<sup>7</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>8</sup> on Mr. Stroud's behalf.

Representing to the Facility that she was authorized to act on behalf of Mr. Stroud, Mrs. Stroud identified herself as Mr. Stroud's attorney-in-fact pursuant to a

---

<sup>6</sup> This issue, and the corresponding argument, includes the circuit court's error in conflating Defendants and disregarding their status as separate and distinct entities.

<sup>7</sup> (R. pp. 163–186.) The Admission Agreement that Mrs. Stroud signed in 2017 is the same as the one she signed in 2018. Hereinafter, for the sake of convenience, this brief simply refers to “the” Admission Agreement, in the singular.

Durable Power of Attorney (the “Power of Attorney”), a copy of which she provided to the Facility at the time of Mr. Stroud’s admission. (R. p. 83:2–3, pp. 96–115, p. 189.) But unbeknownst to the Facility—and although it grants Mrs. Stroud broad authority over Mr. Stroud’s affairs, to expressly include over his legal affairs, indeed, to expressly include the power to “arbitrate” on his behalf<sup>9</sup>—the Power of Attorney contains a provision, located near the end, that prohibits Mrs. Stroud from entering into arbitration agreements on Mr. Stroud’s behalf and disavows any other provision to the contrary.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>8</sup> (R. p. 95, p. 187.) The Arbitration Agreement that Mrs. Stroud signed in 2017 is the same as the one she signed in 2018. Hereinafter, for the sake of convenience, this brief simply refers to “the” Arbitration Agreement, in the singular.

<sup>9</sup> See footnote 10, *infra*.

<sup>10</sup> All told, the Power of Attorney is 20 pages long. (R. pp. 96–115.) The provision that prohibits Mrs. Stroud from entering into arbitration agreements on Mr. Stroud’s behalf and disavows any other provision to the contrary does not begin until page 14. It is in Article VII(6), and it states, “[n]otwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary . . . I reserve unto myself and do not grant unto my Attorney in Fact the power to waive my right to jury trial and enter into Arbitration Agreements. I do not favor Arbitration, and for that reason I do not grant unto my Attorney in Fact the power to enter Arbitration Agreements.” (R. pp. 109–110.) Earlier, however, on page 5, in Article I(12), headed “Power with Respect to Legal and Other Actions” (R. p. 100 (original bold print and underlining omitted)), the Power of Attorney expressly states that Mrs. Stroud has the power to “arbitrate” on Mr. Stroud’s behalf. (R. p. 100 (granting Mrs. Stroud the power “[t]o institute, supervise, prosecute, defend, intervene in, abandon, compromise, *arbitrate*, settle, dismiss, and appeal from *any and all* legal, equitable, judicial or administrative hearings, actions, suits, proceedings, attachments, arrests or distresses, *involving [Mr. Stroud] in any way . . .*.”) (emphasis added).) Additionally, on page 3, in Article I(6), headed “Power to Operate Businesses” (R. p. 98 (original bold print and underlining omitted)), the Power of Attorney expressly states that Mrs. Stroud has the power “to defend, *submit to arbitration*, settle or compromise any action or other legal proceeding to which

Besides the Power of Attorney, Mrs. Stroud also represented herself to the Facility as authorized to act for Mr. Stroud via the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement. Mrs. Stroud signed both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as “‘Resident’s<sup>[11]</sup> Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care’/‘Resident’s Legal Guardian’/‘Resident’s Responsible Party.’” (R. p. 95, p. 163, p. 175, p. 187.) In signing the Admission Agreement, Mrs. Stroud “verifie[d] that all information submitted to [the] Facility . . . is true and correct”<sup>12</sup> and expressly acknowledged that the “promises and representations [she made therein were] in order to induce [the] Facility to enter into this Agreement” and that the “Facility [wa]s relying upon the truthfulness of the promises and representations [she] made.” (R. p. 174, p. 186.) And in signing the Arbitration Agreement itself, Mrs. Stroud expressly “represent[ed] that . . . she ha[d] authority to sign on [Mr. Stroud’s] behalf so as to bind [him] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 95, p. 187.)

---

[Mr. Stroud is] a party because of [his] membership in [a] partnership.” (R. p. 98 (emphasis added).) Also on page 3, in Article I(8), headed “Power to Demand and Receive” (R. p. 98 (original bold print and underlining omitted)), the Power of Attorney expressly states that Mrs. Stroud has the power “[t]o demand, *arbitrate*, settle, sue for, collect, receive, deposit, expend for [Mr. Stroud’s benefit] benefit, reinvest or make such other appropriate disposition of as [Mrs. Stroud] deems appropriate, all cash, rights to the payment of cash, property . . . rights and/or benefits to which [Mr. Stroud is] now or may in the future become entitled . . . .” (R. p. 98 (emphasis added).)

<sup>11</sup> Mr. Stroud is the referenced “Resident.”

<sup>12</sup> (R. p. 163, p. 175.)

Plaintiff commenced this action in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on March 19, 2020, alleging Defendants are liable for money damages because of deficient care/treatment Mr. Stroud received during his residency at the Facility. (R. pp. 15–25.)

On February 12, 2021, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims against it to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”),<sup>13</sup> and the Other Defendants moved to stay this lawsuit pending the outcome of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and of any resulting arbitration between Plaintiff and the Facility, i.e., until the issue of arbitrability is finally determined and any arbitration proceedings resulting from that determination are themselves finally concluded (collectively, the “Motions to Stay”). (R. pp. 116–

---

<sup>13</sup> (R. pp. 93–94, pp. 125–162.) Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 95, p. 187 (“[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Stroud’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Stroud], including but not limited to any alleged tort, personal injury, negligence or other claim; or any federal or state statutory or regulatory claim of any kind; or whether or not there has been a violation of any right or rights granted under State law (collectively ‘Disputes’), and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration . . . .”)) This plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility, but even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration . . . .” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not

119.)<sup>14</sup> Together, the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay are referred to collectively as the “Underlying Motions.”

Following a hearing on the Underlying Motions on June 29, 2021, the circuit court, the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., presiding, directed counsel (i.e., all counsel, Plaintiff’s and Defendants’) to submit proposed orders, which they did. (R. pp. 1–3, pp. 52–92, pp. 188–213.) The circuit court then denied the Underlying Motions by order filed August 17, 2021. (R. pp. 4–13.) On August 27, 2021, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, Defendants timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 214–228.) The circuit court denied the motion by order filed March 1, 2022. (R. p. 14.)

By notice served and filed March 30, 2022, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 229–235.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration

---

susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”).

<sup>14</sup> Prior to making the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint, denying the alleged liability, raising a number of affirmative defenses, and expressly reserving its right to compel arbitration. (R. pp. 26–35.) The Other Defendants likewise timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint before making the Motions to Stay. (R. pp. 36–51.)

agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, denying the Motions to Stay.**

The relationship between the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay is such that, insofar as the circuit court was concerned, the denial of the former mooted the latter. The fates of these motions are similarly intertwined in this Court: If the Motion to Compel Arbitration was properly denied, so too were the Motions to Stay, but if the Motion to Compel Arbitration should have been granted—and, respectfully, it should have—so too should have the Motions to Stay. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 3 (“If any suit or proceeding be brought in any of the courts of the United States upon any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration, the court in which such suit is pending, *upon being satisfied that the issue involved in*

*such suit or proceeding is referable to arbitration under such an agreement, shall on application of one of the parties stay the trial of the action until such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement, providing the applicant for the stay is not in default in proceeding with such arbitration.*”) (emphasis added); *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 612, 571 S.E.2d 711, 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[The] FAA clearly requires a court stay ‘any suit or proceeding’ pending the arbitration of ‘any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration’ upon the application of one of the parties.”); *see also Episcopal Housing Corp. v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 641, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977) (“The fact that Federal is not a party to an arbitration agreement does not prevent an order staying the judicial proceedings pending arbitration between those who are parties to such an agreement.”). Accordingly, the within argument not only shows that the circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration but also shows that the circuit court erred in denying the Motions to Stay, which are not properly viewed as moot but rather should have been granted along with the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

**A. The circuit court erred in finding the language of the Power of Attorney dispositive.<sup>15</sup>**

To be clear, the Facility duly raised its merger/equitable estoppel argument to the circuit court in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration,<sup>16</sup> and this argument is unscathed by the language in the Power of Attorney disallowing Mrs. Stroud authority to agree to arbitration on Mr. Stroud’s behalf. Conceptually, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument for the *enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement but rather for Mr. Stroud and, in turn, Plaintiff, his guardian ad litem, who is proceeding on his behalf, to be *estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement. *See Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (“Appellants contend that *even if* Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is *nevertheless equitably estopped to deny* the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.”) (emphasis added). In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and because Mr. Stroud effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff (who stands in place of Mr. Stroud) is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any contention about the

---

<sup>15</sup> (R. p. 12 (“The actual language of the Power of Attorney . . . is dispositive.”).)

<sup>16</sup> (R. pp. 58:12–59:14, pp. 64:19–77:7, pp. 84:18–89:19, pp. 146–156, pp. 205–211.)

Arbitration Agreement's supposed lack of enforceability (whether because of Mrs. Stroud's lack of authority per the language of the Power of Attorney or because of another alleged defect in contract formation) is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Facility showed that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but whether it showed that Plaintiff should be estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable—and, most respectfully, the Facility did so.

**B. The circuit court should have granted the Underlying Motions based on the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument. More specifically, it should have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Stroud effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.**

South Carolina recognizes numerous theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”); *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel: “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the

admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. . . . Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.”).

Even though Mr. Stroud is a nonsignatory to the Arbitration Agreement, i.e., even though he did not sign the Arbitration Agreement himself, the circuit court should have nonetheless found it enforceable against him and, in turn, against his guardian ad litem, Plaintiff, via merger and equitable estoppel.

### **Merger**

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention,

where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>17</sup> as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>18</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed

---

<sup>17</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

<sup>18</sup> To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in*

together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

---

*the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Unlike the arbitration agreement at issue in *Coleman*—and, for that matter, the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*'s progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), all of which cases involved arbitration agreements that contained a provision allowing them to be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of signing while the corresponding admission agreements did not—the instant Arbitration Agreement has no disclaimer/revocation provision. (R. p. 95, p. 187.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 174, p. 186.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court<sup>19</sup>), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating the lack of its own supposed “separatedness.” (R. p. 174, p. 186.) Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among these other materials. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as

---

<sup>19</sup> 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s *admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement*.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her admission*, including an *Arbitration Agreement* and an *Admission Agreement*.”) (emphasis added)).

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required as a precondition of Mr. Stroud’s residency at the Facility. But all that this means is that the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become part of the admissions materials once it was in fact executed. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

Moreover, while it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is not necessary to the Admission Agreement, the converse is not true: The Admission Agreement *is* necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. That is, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, i.e., without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with—but that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact

executed, and it was executed under the particular circumstances that give rise to the presumption of merger—same time, parties, purpose, and transaction—but unlike the Admission Agreement, which is capable of making sense either standing alone or together with the Arbitration Agreement, *the Arbitration Agreement only makes sense together with the Admission Agreement*, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement’s) sole reason for being. (R. p. 95, p. 187 (providing for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Stroud’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Stroud] . . . .”); *id.* (“This [Arbitration] Agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at [the] Facility . . . .”).)

Even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission; whereupon, it was intended to be considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Mr. Stroud’s relationship with the Facility, the Admission Agreement setting forth the terms of his admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of his admission. (*Compare* R. pp. 163–186 (setting forth the terms of Mr. Stroud’s admission to the Facility) *with* p. 95, p. 187 (providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of Mr. Stroud’s admission in the Facility).)

Also absent here is the type of discrepancy the *Hodge* Court pointed out with respect to the respective provisions of the admission and arbitration agreements before it as to the governing law. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. (*Compare* R. pp. 172, 184 (“This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with applicable Federal regulations and those laws of the State in which Facility is located.”) *with* R. pp. 95, 187 (providing that, “because the services and reimbursement thereof effect a transaction involving interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement . . . shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Action,” but also providing that arbitration shall be “as provided by the South Carolina Alternate Dispute Resolution/Mediation Rules”).) Essentially, both instruments provide that South Carolina law applies except where displaced by federal law. This provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger.

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