RECEIVED

Mar 02 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Greenville County
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-23-01728
Appellate Case No. 2022-000398

Debbie Stroud,
Guardian of Litem for James C. Stroud,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Greenville, LLC
d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Greenville,
THI of Baltimore, Inc., and
THI of South Carolina, LLC,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

The Dan Pruitt Law Firm
C. Daniel Pruitt (SC Bar No. 66497)
300 Pettigru Street
Greenville, SC 29601
864-232-4273

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly denied Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration where the court held that the language of the Power of Attorney was dispositive.

In deciding a motion to compel arbitration, the Court looks to contract law to determine whether a valid and enforceable contract to arbitrate has been entered by the parties. "[A]rbitration is a matter of contract, and our evaluation of the

enforceability of an arbitration agreement is guided by general principles of contract law." [Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc.](#), 383 S.C. 125, 130, 678 S.E.2d 435, 438 (2009). A person possessing contractual capacity, acting as grantor, can authorize another to contract on the grantor's behalf under the specific terms of a power of attorney. See [Gaddy v. Douglass](#), 359 S.C. 329, 344-45, 597 S.E.2d 12, 20 (Ct. App. 2004). "A power of attorney is an instrument in writing by which one person, as principal, appoints another as his agent and confers upon him the authority to perform certain specified acts or kinds of acts on behalf of the principal. The written authorization itself is the power of attorney." [Watson v. Underwood](#), 407 S.C. 443, 454, 756 S.E.2d 155, 161 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting [In re Thames](#), 344 S.C. 564, 569, 544 S.E.2d 854, 856 (Ct. App. 2001) "Our courts have looked to contract law when reviewing actions to set aside or interpret a power of attorney." [Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.](#), 426 S.C. 568, 577, 828 S.E.2d 82, 87 (Ct. App. 2019).

"The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties, and, in determining that intention, the court looks to the language of the contract." *Id.* (quoting [Watson v. Underwood](#), 407 S.C. 443, 454-55, 756 S.E.2d 155, 161 (Ct. App. 2014)). "When the language of a contract is plain and capable of legal construction, that language alone determines the instrument's force and effect." *Id.* (quoting [Watson](#), 407 S.C. at 455, 756 S.E.2d at

[161](#)). Accordingly, here, the specific language of the Power of Attorney determines whether Mr. Stroud authorized his attorney-in-fact to execute an agreement for binding arbitration. Arredondo v. SNH Ashley River Tenant, LLC, [856 SE 2d 550, 433 SC 69, \(SC 2021\)](#). Absent the grant of such authority, his Attorney-in-Fact had no authority or legal capacity to enter the arbitration agreement in question. The arbitration agreement is invalid and unenforceable if the Attorney-in-Fact had no authority to waive the right to jury trial or enter an arbitration agreement. Arredondo at 2.

Article VII of the Power of Attorney signed by Mr. Stroud in favor of his wife on November 22, 2016 contains specific restrictions on the authority granted by Mr. Stroud to his attorney-in-fact. Section (6) provides as follows:

Reservation of Right to Trial by Jury. I reserve unto myself and do not grant unto my Attorney in Fact the power to waive my right to jury trial and enter into Arbitration Agreements. I do not favor Arbitration, and for that reason I do not grant unto my Attorney in Fact the power to enter Arbitration Agreements.

Durable Power of Attorney of James C. Stroud, Article VII, paragraph (6)(emphasis in original).

The present case is an even stronger case for denial than the one at issue in the recent Supreme Court reviewed in Arredondo cited above. Here, the Power of Attorney specifically states that the Attorney in Fact is not granted the power to

waive the right to jury trial or enter into arbitration agreements. The plain language of the Power of Attorney controls. The Arbitration Agreement is not valid or enforceable because it is expressly beyond the scope of authority granted to Mrs. Stroud by her husband.

Appellants' have argued that a general passage in the Power of Attorney purports to allow the Attorney in Fact to enter an agreement for arbitration. The more specific clause prevents the Attorney in Fact from entering an agreement for "binding arbitration" or waiver of trial by jury. The Court must read the entire agreement in a way that gives effect to the entire agreement and does not render null the provisions contained therein. Arbitration can be either binding or non-binding. In the present case, the Power of Attorney allows for non-binding arbitration but **expressly forbids** binding arbitration and waiver of trial by jury. There is no conflict in the language of the document.

Further, because the language of the Power of Attorney is dispositive, Appellants' arguments about merger simply do not apply.

II. The circuit court properly held that the arbitration agreement was mandatory and therefore without consideration.

An illegal contract is unenforceable. Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50,53 n.2, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 n.2 (1993). "The general rule is that courts will not enforce a contract is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the

Constitution.” Id. Federal regulations require Medicare and Medicaid certified facilities to accept Medicare reimbursement rates as payment in full. See 42 C.F.R. Section 489.30; 42 C.F.R. Section 447.15 Moreover, such facilities, in the case of an individual who is entitled to medical assistance, must “not charge, solicit, accept, or receive, in addition to any amount otherwise required to be paid under the state plan...any other consideration as a precondition of admitting (or expediting the admission of) the individual to the facility or as a requirement for the individual’s continued stay at the facility.” 42 U.S.C. Section 1396r(c)(5)(A)(iii).

Clearly here, it is undisputed that Mr. Stroud was a recipient of Medicare at the time of his admission and throughout his stay at Defendants’ facility and the Defendants’ facility was billing and accepting payment from Medicare for Mr. Stroud’s care. As such, the purported agreement for binding arbitration which the facility mandated that Mrs. Stroud sign is not valid or enforceable because by its terms it violates federal law.

It is well settled that to be valid and enforceable, a contract must be supported by valuable consideration. Benya v. Gamble, 282 S.C. 624, 628, 321 S.E.2d 57, 60 (Ct. App. 1984) (“a contract exists where there is an agreement between two or more persons upon sufficient consideration either to do or not to do a particular act”). Consideration may consist of “consist of “some right, interest, profit or

benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other.” Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P’ship, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct. App. 1998).

The clear language of the purported arbitration agreement makes clear that the Defendants required Mrs. Stroud to sign as condition of admission to their facility. As such, this requirement was a clear violation of Federal Law. 42 U.S.C. Section 1396r(c)(5)(A)(iii) prohibits a facility such as Defendants’ from soliciting or accepting “any other consideration” as a condition to admission outside of the Medicare payments when admitting a patient in Mr. Stroud’s position. By requiring Mrs. Stroud to sign the document attempting to require waiver of the right to jury trial as a condition of admission, Defendants were requiring and accepting consideration in addition to Medicare payments. Therefore, the arbitration agreement in question is not valid or enforceable.

III. The circuit court properly denied the Appellants’ request for additional discovery on the issue of the arbitration agreement?

Here, the circuit court exercised its discretion in denying the Appellants additional time for discovery. At no time during the proceedings have the Appellants served any written discovery or sought any depositions. To have delayed the decision further to order discovery would have been an unreasonable delay. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Appellants a

delay for discovery. In addition, Appellants could have submitted Affidavits from its agents or employees who were involved in the admissions process. No such affidavits were filed with the circuit court.

Conclusion

The arbitration agreement was not valid because the Principal, Mr. Stroud, decided not to grant the power to waive his right to jury trial or enter arbitration agreements to his Attorney-in-Fact. In addition, the agreement used by Appellants is also not valid or enforceable because it is illegal and without consideration. As such, Respondent respectfully asks the Court to uphold the order of the circuit court.